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§22.41 Stay pending appeal.

(a) An initial decision is stayed auto-
matically pending disposition of a mo-
tion for reconsideration or of an appeal
to the authority head.

(b) No administrative stay is avail-
able following a final decision of the
authority head.

§22.42 Judicial review.

Section 3805 of title 31 U.S.C., author-
izes judicial review by an appropriate
United States District Court of a final
decision of the authority head impos-
ing penalties or assessments under this
part and specifies the procedures for
such review.

§22.43 Collection of civil penalties and
assessments.

Sections 3806 and 3808(b) of title 31
U.S.C., authorize actions for collection
of civil penalties and assessments im-
posed under this part and specify the
procedures for such actions.

§22.44 Right to administrative offset.

The amount of any penalty or assess-
ment which has become final, or for
which a judgment has been entered
under §22.42 or §22.43, or any amount
agreed upon in a compromise or settle-
ment under §22.46, may be collected by
administrative offset under 31 U.S.C.
3716, except that an administrative off-
set may not be made under this sub-
section against a refund of an overpay-
ment of Federal taxes, then or later
owing by the United States to the de-
fendant.

§22.45 Deposit in Treasury of United
States.

All amounts collected pursuant to
this part shall be deposited as miscella-
neous receipts in the Treasury of the
United States, except as provided in 31
U.S.C. 3806(g) .

§22.46 Compromise or settlement.

(a) Parties may make offers of com-
promise or settlement at any time.

(b) The reviewing official has the ex-
clusive authority to compromise or
settle a case under this part at any
time after the date on which the re-
viewing official is permitted to issue a
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complaint and before the date on which
the ALJ issues an initial decision.

(c) The authority head has exclusive
authority to compromise or settle a
case under this part at any time after
the date on which the ALJ issues an
initial decision, except during the
pendency of any review under §22.42 or
during the pendency of any action to
collect penalties and assessments
under §22.43.

(d) The Attorney General has exclu-
sive authority to compromise or settle
a case under this part during the pend-
ency of any review under §22.42 or of
any action to recover penalties and as-
sessments under 31 U.S.C. 3806.

(e) The investigating official may
recommend settlement terms to the re-
viewing official, the authority head, or
the Attorney General, as appropriate.
The reviewing official may recommend
settlement terms to the authority
head, or the Attorney General, as ap-
propriate.

(f) Any compromise or settlement
must be in writing.

§22.47 Limitations.

(a) The notice of hearing (under
§22.12) with respect to a claim or state-
ment must be served in the manner
specified in §22.8 within 6 years after
the date on which such claim or state-
ment is made.

(b) If the defendant fails to file a
timely answer, service of a notice
under §22.10(b) shall be deemed a notice
of hearing for purposes of this section.

(c) The statute of limitations may be
extended by agreement of the parties.
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waiver of

Subpart A—Complaints, Investiga-
tions, Issuance of Findings

§24.100 Purpose and scope.

(a) This part implements procedures
under the employee protection provi-
sions for which the Secretary of Labor
has been given responsibility pursuant
to the following federal statutes: Safe
Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. 300j-9(i);
Federal Water Pollution Control Act,
33 U.S.C. 1367; Toxic Substances Con-
trol Act, 15 U.S.C. 2622; Solid Waste
Disposal Act, 42 U.S.C. 6971; Clean Air
Act, 42 U.S.C. 7622; Energy Reorganiza-
tion Act of 1974, 42 U.S.C. 5851; and
Comprehensive Environmental Re-
sponse, Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. 9610.

(b) This part establishes procedures
pursuant to the federal statutory pro-
visions listed in paragraph (a) of this
section for the expeditious handling of
retaliation complaints made by em-
ployees, or by persons acting on their
behalf. These rules, together with
those rules codified at 29 CFR part 18,
set forth the procedures for submission
of complaints under the federal statu-
tory provisions listed in paragraph (a)
of this section, investigations, issuance
of findings, objections to findings, liti-
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gation before administrative Ilaw
judges, issuance of decisions and or-
ders, post-hearing administrative re-
view, and withdrawals and settlements.

§24.101 Definitions.

Assistant Secretary means the Assist-
ant Secretary of Labor for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health or the person
or persons to whom he or she delegates
authority under any of the statutes
listed in §24.100(a).

Complainant means the employee who
filed a complaint under any of the stat-
utes listed in §24.100(a) or on whose be-
half a complaint was filed.

OSHA means the Occupational Safety
and Health Administration of the
United States Department of Labor.

Respondent means the employer
named in the complaint, who is alleged
to have violated any of the statutes
listed in §24.100(a).

Secretary means the Secretary of
Labor or persons to whom authority
under any of the statutes listed in
§24.100(a) has been delegated.

§24.102 Obligations
acts.

(a) No employer subject to the provi-
sions of any of the statutes listed in
§24.100(a), or to the Atomic Energy Act
of 1954 (AEA), 42 U.S.C. 2011 et seq., may
discharge or otherwise retaliate
against any employee with respect to
the employee’s compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employ-
ment because the employee, or any per-
son acting pursuant to the employee’s
request, engaged in any of the activi-
ties specified in this section.

(b) It is a violation for any employer
to intimidate, threaten, restrain, co-
erce, blacklist, discharge, or in any
other manner retaliate against any em-
ployee because the employee has:

(1) Commenced or caused to be com-
menced, or is about to commence or
cause to be commenced, a proceeding
under one of the statutes listed in
§24.100(a) or a proceeding for the ad-
ministration or enforcement of any re-
quirement imposed under such statute;

(2) Testified or is about to testify in
any such proceeding; or

(3) Assisted or participated, or is
about to assist or participate, in any
manner in such a proceeding or in any

and prohibited
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other action to carry out the purposes
of such statute.

(c) Under the Energy Reorganization
Act, and by interpretation of the Sec-
retary under any of the other statutes
listed in §24.100(a), it is a violation for
any employer to intimidate, threaten,
restrain, coerce, blacklist, discharge,
or in any other manner retaliate
against any employee because the em-
ployee has:

(1) Notified the employer of an al-
leged violation of such statute or the
AEA of 1954;

(2) Refused to engage in any practice
made unlawful by such statute or the
AEA of 1954, if the employee has identi-
fied the alleged illegality to the em-
ployer; or

(3) Testified or is about to testify be-
fore Congress or at any federal or state
proceeding regarding any provision (or
proposed provision) of such statute or
the AEA of 1954.

(d)(1) Every employer subject to the
Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, as
amended, shall prominently post and
keep posted in any place of employ-
ment to which the employee protection
provisions of the Act apply, a fully leg-
ible copy of the notice prepared by
OSHA, printed as appendix A to this
part, or a notice approved by the As-
sistant Secretary that contains sub-
stantially the same provisions and ex-
plains the employee protection provi-
sions of the Act and the regulations in
this part. Copies of the notice prepared
by OSHA may be obtained from the As-
sistant Secretary for Occupational
Safety and Health, U.S. Department of
Labor, Washington, DC 20210, from
local OSHA offices, or from OSHA’s
Web site at http:/www.osha.gov.

(2) Where the notice required by
paragraph (d)(1) of this section has not
been posted, the requirement in
§24.103(d)(2) that a complaint be filed
with the Assistant Secretary within 180
days of an alleged violation will be in-
operative, unless the respondent estab-
lishes that the complainant had knowl-
edge of the material provisions of the
notice. If it is established that the no-
tice was posted at the employee’s place
of employment after the alleged retal-
iatory action occurred or that the com-
plainant later obtained knowledge of
the provisions of the notice, the 180
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days will ordinarily run from which-
ever of those dates is relevant.

(e) This part shall have no applica-
tion to any employee who, acting with-
out direction from his or her employer
(or the employer’s agent), deliberately
causes a violation of any requirement
of any of the statutes listed in
§24.100(a) or the AEA of 1954.

§24.103 Filing of retaliation complaint.

(a) Who may file. An employee who
believes that he or she has been retali-
ated against by an employer in viola-
tion of any of the statutes listed in
§24.100(a) may file, or have filed by any
person on the employee’s behalf, a
complaint alleging such retaliation.

(b) Nature of Filing. No particular
form of complaint is required, except
that a complaint must be in writing
and should include a full statement of
the acts and omissions, with pertinent
dates, which are believed to constitute
the violations.

(¢c) Place of Filing. The complaint
should be filed with the OSHA Area Di-
rector responsible for enforcement ac-
tivities in the geographical area where
the employee resides or was employed,
but may be filed with any OSHA officer
or employee. Addresses and telephone
numbers for these officials are set forth
in local directories and at the fol-
lowing Internet address: http:/
www.osha.gov.

(d) Time for Filing. (1) Except as pro-
vided in paragraph (d)(2) of this sec-
tion, within 30 days after an alleged
violation of any of the statutes listed
in §24.100(a) occurs (i.e., when the re-
taliatory decision has been both made
and communicated to the complain-
ant), an employee who believes that he
or she has been retaliated against in
violation of any of the statutes listed
in §24.100(a) may file, or have filed by
any person on the employee’s behalf, a
complaint alleging such retaliation.
The date of the postmark, facsimile
transmittal, or e-mail communication
will be considered to be the date of fil-
ing; if the complaint is filed in person,
by hand-delivery, or other means, the
complaint is filed upon receipt.

(2) Under the Energy Reorganization
Act, within 180 days after an alleged
violation of the Act occurs (i.e., when
the retaliatory decision has been both
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made and communicated to the com-
plainant), an employee who believes
that he or she has been retaliated
against in violation of the Act may
file, or have filed by any person on the
employee’s behalf, a complaint alleging
such retaliation. The date of the post-
mark, facsimile transmittal, or e-mail
communication will be considered to
be the date of filing; if the complaint is
filed in person, by hand-delivery, or
other means, the complaint is filed
upon receipt.

(e) Relationship to section 11(c) com-
plaints. A complaint filed under any of
the statutes listed in §24.100(a) alleging
facts that would constitute a violation
of section 11(c) of the Occupational
Safety and Health Act, 29 U.S.C. 660(c),
will be deemed to be both a complaint
filed under any of the statutes listed in
§24.100(a) and section 11(c). Similarly, a
complaint filed under section 11(c) that
alleges facts that would constitute a
violation of any of the statutes listed
in §24.100(a) will be deemed to be both
a complaint filed under any of the stat-
utes listed in §24.100(a) and section
11(c). Normal procedures and timeli-
ness requirements for investigations
under the respective statutes and regu-
lations will be followed.

§24.104 Investigation.

(a) Upon receipt of a complaint in the
investigating office, the Assistant Sec-
retary will notify the respondent of the
filing of the complaint, of the allega-
tions contained in the complaint, and
of the substance of the evidence sup-
porting the complaint (redacted to pro-
tect the identity of any confidential in-
formants). A copy of the notice to the
respondent will also be provided to the
appropriate office of the federal agency
charged with the administration of the
general provisions of the statute(s)
under which the complaint is filed.

(b) Within 20 days of receipt of the
notice of the filing of the complaint
provided under paragraph (a) of this
section the respondent may submit to
the Assistant Secretary a written
statement and any affidavits or docu-
ments substantiating its position.
Within the same 20 days, the respond-
ent may request a meeting with the
Assistant Secretary to present its posi-
tion.
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(c) Investigations will be conducted
in a manner that protects the confiden-
tiality of any person who provides in-
formation on a confidential basis,
other than the complainant, in accord-
ance with 29 CFR part 70.

(d) Investigation under the six environ-
mental statutes. In addition to the in-
vestigative procedures set forth in
§24.104(a), (b), and (c), this paragraph
sets forth the procedures applicable to
investigations under the Safe Drinking
Water Act; Federal Water Pollution
Control Act; Toxic Substances Control
Act; Solid Waste Disposal Act; Clean
Air Act; and Comprehensive Environ-
mental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act.

(1) A complaint of alleged violation
will be dismissed unless the complain-
ant has made a prima facie showing
that protected activity was a moti-
vating factor in the unfavorable per-
sonnel action alleged in the complaint.

(2) The complaint, supplemented as
appropriate by interviews of the com-
plainant, must allege the existence of
facts and evidence to make a prima
facie showing as follows:

(i) The employee engaged in a pro-
tected activity;

(ii) The respondent knew or sus-
pected, actually or constructively, that
the employee engaged in the protected
activity;

(iii) The employee suffered an unfa-
vorable personnel action; and

(iv) The circumstances were suffi-
cient to raise the inference that the
protected activity was a motivating
factor in the unfavorable action.

(3) The complainant will be consid-
ered to have met the required burden if
the complaint on its face, supple-
mented as appropriate through inter-
views of the complainant, alleges the
existence of facts and either direct or
circumstantial evidence to meet the
required showing, i.e., to give rise to an
inference that the respondent knew or
suspected that the employee engaged
in protected activity and that the pro-
tected activity was a motivating factor
in the unfavorable personnel action.
The burden may be satisfied, for exam-
ple, if the complainant shows that the
adverse personnel action took place
shortly after the protected activity,
giving rise to the inference that it was
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a motivating factor in the adverse ac-
tion.

(4) The complaint will be dismissed if
the respondent demonstrates by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence that it
would have taken the same unfavorable
personnel action in the absence of the
complainant’s protected activity.

(e) Investigation under the Energy Re-
organization Act. In addition to the in-
vestigative procedures set forth in
§24.104(a), (b), and (c), this paragraph
sets forth special procedures applicable
only to investigations under the En-
ergy Reorganization Act.

(1) A complaint of alleged violation
will be dismissed unless the complain-
ant has made a prima facie showing
that protected activity was a contrib-
uting factor in the unfavorable per-
sonnel action alleged in the complaint.

(2) The complaint, supplemented as
appropriate by interviews of the com-
plainant, must allege the existence of
facts and evidence to make a prima
facie showing as follows:

(i) The employee engaged in a pro-
tected activity;

(ii) The respondent knew or sus-
pected, actually or constructively, that
the employee engaged in the protected
activity;

(iii) The employee suffered an unfa-
vorable personnel action; and

(iv) The circumstances were suffi-
cient to raise the inference that the
protected activity was a contributing
factor in the unfavorable action.

(3) For purposes of determining
whether to investigate, the complain-
ant will be considered to have met the
required burden if the complaint on its
face, supplemented as appropriate
through interviews of the complainant,
alleges the existence of facts and either
direct or circumstantial evidence to
meet the required showing, i.e., to give
rise to an inference that the respond-
ent knew or suspected that the em-
ployee engaged in protected activity
and that the protected activity was a
contributing factor in the unfavorable
personnel action. The burden may be
satisfied, for example, if the complain-
ant shows that the adverse personnel
action took place shortly after the pro-
tected activity, giving rise to the infer-
ence that it was a contributing factor
in the adverse action. If the required
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showing has not been made, the com-
plainant will be so advised and the in-
vestigation will not commence.

(4) Notwithstanding a finding that a
complainant has made a prima facie
showing, as required by this section, an
investigation of the complaint will not
be conducted or will be discontinued if
the respondent, pursuant to the proce-
dures provided in this paragraph, dem-
onstrates by clear and convincing evi-
dence that it would have taken the
same unfavorable personnel action in
the absence of the complainant’s pro-
tected behavior or conduct.

(5) If the respondent fails to make a
timely response or fails to demonstrate
by clear and convincing evidence that
it would have taken the same unfavor-
able personnel action in the absence of
the behavior protected by the Act, the
Assistant Secretary will proceed with
the investigation. The investigation
will proceed whenever it is necessary
or appropriate to confirm or verify the
information provided by the respond-
ent.

§24.105 Issuance of findings and or-
ders.

(a) After considering all the relevant
information collected during the inves-
tigation, the Assistant Secretary will
issue, within 30 days of filing of the
complaint, written findings as to
whether or not there is reasonable
cause to believe that the respondent
has discriminated against the com-
plainant in violation of any of the stat-
utes listed in §24.100(a).

(1) If the Assistant Secretary con-
cludes that there is reasonable cause to
believe that a violation has occurred,
he or she shall accompany the findings
with an order providing relief to the
complainant. The order shall include,
where appropriate, a requirement that
the respondent abate the violation; re-
instate the complainant to his or her
former position, together with the
compensation (including back pay),
terms, conditions and privileges of the
complainant’s employment; pay com-
pensatory damages; and, under the
Toxic Substances Control Act and the
Safe Drinking Water Act, pay exem-
plary damages, where appropriate.
Where the respondent establishes that
the complainant is a security risk
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(whether or not the information is ob-
tained after the complainant’s dis-
charge), an order of reinstatement
would not be appropriate. At the com-
plainant’s request the order shall also
assess against the respondent the com-
plainant’s costs and expenses (includ-
ing attorney’s fees) reasonably in-
curred in connection with the filing of
the complaint.

(2) If the Assistant Secretary con-
cludes that a violation has not oc-
curred, the Assistant Secretary will
notify the parties of that finding.

(b) The findings and order will be
sent by certified mail, return receipt
requested, to all parties of record. The
letter accompanying the findings and
order will inform the parties of their
right to file objections and to request a
hearing and provide the address of the
Chief Administrative Law Judge. The
Assistant Secretary will file a copy of
the original complaint and a copy of
the findings and order with the Chief
Administrative Law Judge, U.S. De-
partment of Labor.

(c) The findings and order will be ef-
fective 30 days after receipt by the re-
spondent pursuant to paragraph (b) of
this section, unless an objection and a
request for a hearing has been filed as
provided at §24.106.

Subpart B—Litigation

§24.106 Objections to the findings and
order and request for a hearing.

(a) Any party who desires review, in-
cluding judicial review, of the findings
and order must file any objections and/
or a request for a hearing on the record
within 30 days of receipt of the findings
and order pursuant to paragraph (b) of
§24.1056. The objection and/or request
for a hearing must be in writing and
state whether the objection is to the
findings and/or the order. The date of
the postmark, facsimile transmittal, or
e-mail communication will be consid-
ered to be the date of filing; if the ob-
jection is filed in person, by hand-de-
livery or other means, the objection is
filed upon receipt. Objections must be
filed with the Chief Administrative
Law Judge, U.S. Department of Labor,
800 K Street, NW., Washington, DC
20001, and copies of the objections must
be mailed at the same time to the
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other parties of record, the OSHA offi-
cial who issued the findings and order,
the Assistant Secretary, and the Asso-
ciate Solicitor, Division of Fair Labor
Standards, 200 Constitution Ave., NW.,
N 2716, U.S. Department of Labor,
Washington, DC 20210.

(b) If a timely objection is filed, all
provisions of the order will be stayed.
If no timely objection is filed with re-
spect to either the findings or the
order, the findings and order will be-
come the final decision of the Sec-
retary, not subject to judicial review.

§24.107 Hearings.

(a) Except as provided in this part,
proceedings will be conducted in ac-
cordance with the rules of practice and
procedure for administrative hearings
before the Office of Administrative
Law Judges, codified at subpart A, 29
CFR part 18.

(b) Upon receipt of an objection and
request for hearing, the Chief Adminis-
trative Law Judge will promptly assign
the case to a judge who will notify the
parties, by certified mail, of the day,
time, and place of hearing. The hearing
is to commence expeditiously, except
upon a showing of good cause or other-
wise agreed to by the parties. Hearings
will be conducted de novo, on the
record. Administrative law judges have
broad discretion to limit discovery in
order to expedite the hearing.

(c) If both the complainant and the
respondent object to the findings and/
or order, the objections will be consoli-
dated, and a single hearing will be con-
ducted.

(d) Formal rules of evidence will not
apply, but rules or principles designed
to assure production of the most pro-
bative evidence available will be ap-
plied. The administrative law judge
may exclude evidence that is immate-
rial, irrelevant, or unduly repetitious.

§24.108 Role of Federal agencies.

(a)(1) The complainant and the re-
spondent will be parties in every pro-
ceeding. At the Assistant Secretary’s
discretion, he or she may participate as
a party or participate as amicus curiae
at any time at any stage of the pro-
ceedings. This right to participate in-
cludes, but is not limited to, the right
to petition for review of a decision of
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an administrative law judge, including
a decision approving or rejecting a set-
tlement agreement between the com-
plainant and the respondent.

(2) Copies of pleadings in all cases,
whether or not the Assistant Secretary
is participating in the proceeding,
must be sent to the Assistant Sec-
retary, Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, and to the Associate
Solicitor, Division of Fair Labor
Standards, U.S. Department of Labor,
200 Constitution Ave., NW., N 2716,
Washington, DC 20210.

(b) The Environmental Protection
Agency, the Nuclear Regulatory Com-
mission, and the Department of En-
ergy, if interested in a proceeding, may
participate as amicus curiae at any
time in the proceedings, at the agen-
cy’s discretion. At the request of the
interested federal agency, copies of all
pleadings in a case must be sent to the
federal agency, whether or not the
agency is participating in the pro-
ceeding.

§24.109 Decision and orders of the ad-
ministrative law judge.

(a) The decision of the administra-
tive law judge will contain appropriate
findings, conclusions, and an order per-
taining to the remedies provided in
paragraph (c) of this section, as appro-
priate. In cases arising under the ERA,
a determination that a violation has
occurred may only be made if the com-
plainant has demonstrated by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence that the
protected activity was a contributing
factor in the unfavorable personnel ac-
tion alleged in the complaint. In cases
arising under the other six statutes
listed in §24.100(a), a determination
that a violation has occurred may only
be made if the complainant has dem-
onstrated by a preponderance of the
evidence that the protected activity
was a motivating factor in the unfavor-
able personnel action alleged in the
complaint.

(b) In cases under the Energy Reorga-
nization Act, if the complainant has
demonstrated by a preponderance of
the evidence that the protected activ-
ity was a contributing factor in the un-
favorable personnel action alleged in
the complaint, relief may not be or-
dered if the respondent demonstrates
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by clear and convincing evidence that
it would have taken the same unfavor-
able personnel action in the absence of
any protected activity. In cases under
the other six statutes listed in
§24.100(a), even if the complainant has
demonstrated by a preponderance of
the evidence that the protected activ-
ity was a motivating factor in the un-
favorable personnel action alleged in
the complaint, relief may not be or-
dered if the respondent demonstrates
by a preponderance of the evidence
that it would have taken the same un-
favorable personnel action in the ab-
sence of any protected activity.

(c) Neither the Assistant Secretary’s
determination to dismiss a complaint
without completing an investigation
pursuant to §24.104(d) nor the Assistant
Secretary’s determination to proceed
with an investigation is subject to re-
view by the administrative law judge,
and a complaint may not be remanded
for the completion of an investigation
or for additional findings on the basis
that a determination to dismiss was
made in error. Rather, if there other-
wise is jurisdiction, the administrative
law judge will hear the case on the
merits.

(d)(1) If the administrative law judge
concludes that the respondent has vio-
lated the law, the order shall direct the
respondent to take appropriate affirm-
ative action to abate the violation, in-
cluding reinstatement of the complain-
ant to that person’s former position,
together with the compensation (in-
cluding back pay), terms, conditions,
and privileges of that employment, and
compensatory damages. In cases aris-
ing under the Safe Drinking Water Act
or the Toxic Substances Control Act,
exemplary damages may also be award-
ed when appropriate. At the request of
the complainant, the administrative
law judge shall assess against the re-
spondent, all costs and expenses (in-
cluding attorney fees) reasonably in-
curred.

(2) In cases brought under the Energy
Reorganization Act, when an adminis-
trative law judge issues a decision that
the complaint has merit and orders the
relief prescribed in paragraph (d)(1) of
this section, the relief ordered, with
the exception of compensatory dam-
ages, shall be effective immediately
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upon receipt, whether or not a petition
for review is filed with the Administra-
tive Review Board.

(3) If the administrative law judge de-
termines that the respondent has not
violated the law, an order will be
issued denying the complaint.

(e) The decision will be served upon
all parties to the proceeding. Any ad-
ministrative law judge’s decision
issued under any of the statutes listed
in §24.100(a) will be effective 10 busi-
ness days after the date of the decision
unless a timely petition for review has
been filed with the Administrative Re-
view Board. An administrative law
judge’s order issued under the Energy
Reorganization Act will be effective
immediately upon receipt, except for
that portion of the order awarding any
compensatory damages.

§24.110 Decision and orders of the Ad-
ministrative Review Board.

(a) Any party desiring to seek review,
including judicial review, of a decision
of the administrative law judge must
file a written petition for review with
the Administrative Review Board (‘‘the
Board’’), U.S. Department of Labor, 200
Constitution Ave., NW., Washington,
DC 20210, which has been delegated the
authority to act for the Secretary and
issue final decisions under this part.
The decision of the administrative law
judge will become the final order of the
Secretary unless, pursuant to this sec-
tion, a timely petition for review is
filed with the Board. The petition for
review must specifically identify the
findings, conclusions or orders to
which exception is taken. Any excep-
tion not specifically urged ordinarily
will be deemed to have been waived by
the parties. A petition must be filed
within 10 business days of the date of
the decision of the administrative law
judge. The date of the postmark, fac-
simile transmittal, or e-mail commu-
nication will be considered to be the
date of filing; if the petition is filed in
person, by hand-delivery or other
means, the petition is considered filed
upon receipt. The petition must be
served on all parties and on the Chief
Administrative Law Judge at the time
it is filed with the Board. Copies of the
petition for review and all briefs must
be served on the Assistant Secretary,
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Occupational Safety and Health Ad-
ministration, and on the Associate So-
licitor, Division of Fair Labor Stand-
ards, U.S. Department of Labor, 200
Constitution Ave., NW., N 2716, Wash-
ington, DC 20210.

(b) If a timely petition for review is
filed pursuant to paragraph (a) of this
section, and the Board, within 30 days
of the filing of the petition, issues an
order notifying the parties that the
case has been accepted for review, the
decision of the administrative law
judge will be inoperative unless and
until the Board issues an order adopt-
ing the decision, except that an order
by an administrative law judge issued
under the Energy Reorganization Act,
other than that portion of the order
awarding compensatory damages, will
be effective while review is conducted
by the Board, unless the Board grants a
motion by the respondent to stay the
order based on exceptional -cir-
cumstances. The Board will specify the
terms under which any briefs are to be
filed. The Board will review the factual
determinations of the administrative
law judge under the substantial evi-
dence standard. If a timely petition for
review is not filed, or the Board denies
review, the decision of the administra-
tive law judge will become the final
order of the Secretary and is not sub-
ject to judicial review.

(c) The final decision of the Board
will be issued within 90 days of the fil-
ing of the complaint. The decision will
be served upon all parties and the Chief
Administrative Law Judge by mail to
the last known address. The final deci-
sion will also be served on the Assist-
ant Secretary, Occupational Safety and
Health Administration, and on the As-
sociate Solicitor, Division of Fair
Labor Standards, U.S. Department of
Labor, 200 Constitution Ave., NW., N
2716, Washington, DC 20210, even if the
Assistant Secretary is not a party.

(d) If the Board concludes that the
respondent has violated the law, the
final order will order the respondent to
take appropriate affirmative action to
abate the violation, including rein-
statement of the complainant to that
person’s former position, together with
the compensation (including back pay),
terms, conditions, and privileges of em-
ployment, and compensatory damages.
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In cases arising under the Safe Drink-
ing Water Act or the Toxic Substances
Control Act, exemplary damages may
also be awarded when appropriate. At
the request of the complainant, the
Board will assess against the respond-
ent all costs and expenses (including
attorney’s fees) reasonably incurred.

(e) If the Board determines that the
respondent has not violated the law, an
order will be issued denying the com-
plaint.

Subpart C—Miscellaneous
Provisions

§24.111 Withdrawal of complaints, ob-
jections, and findings; settlement.

(a) At any time prior to the filing of
objections to the findings and/or order,
a complainant may withdraw his or her
complaint under any of the statutes
listed in §24.100(a) by filing a written
withdrawal with the Assistant Sec-
retary. The Assistant Secretary will
then determine whether to approve the
withdrawal. The Assistant Secretary
will notify the respondent of the ap-
proval of any withdrawal. If the com-
plaint is withdrawn because of settle-
ment under the Energy Reorganization
Act, the Clean Air Act, the Safe Drink-
ing Water Act, or the Toxic Substances
Control Act, the settlement must be
submitted for approval in accordance
with paragraph (d) of this section. Par-
ties to settlements under the Federal
Water Pollution Control Act, the Solid
Waste Disposal Act, and the Com-
prehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act are en-
couraged to submit their settlements
for approval.

(b) The Assistant Secretary may
withdraw his or her findings and/or
order, at any time before the expira-
tion of the 30-day objection period de-
scribed in §24.106, provided that no ob-
jection has yet been filed, and sub-
stitute new findings and/or a new
order. The date of the receipt of the
substituted findings and/or order will
begin a new 30-day objection period.

(c) At any time before the findings or
order become final, a party may with-
draw his or her objections to the find-
ings or order by filing a written with-
drawal with the administrative law
judge, or, if the case is on review, with

§24.112

the Board. The judge or the Board, as
the case may be, will determine wheth-
er to approve the withdrawal. If the ob-
jections are withdrawn because of set-
tlement under the Energy Reorganiza-
tion Act, the Clean Air Act, the Safe
Drinking Water Act, or the Toxic Sub-
stances Control Act, the settlement
must be submitted for approval in ac-
cordance with paragraph (d) of this sec-
tion.

(d)(A) Investigative settlements under
the Energy Reorganization Act, the Clean
Air Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, and
the Toxic Substances Control Act. At any
time after the filing of a complaint,
and before the findings and/or order are
objected to or become a final order by
operation of law, the case may be set-
tled if the Assistant Secretary, the
complainant and the respondent agree
to a settlement. The Assistant Sec-
retary’s approval of a settlement
reached by the respondent and the
complainant demonstrates his or her
consent and achieves the consent of all
three parties.

(2) Adjudicatory settlements under the
Energy Reorganization Act, the Clean Air
Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, and the
Toxic Substances Control Act. At any
time after the filing of objections to
the Assistant Secretary’s findings and/
or order, the case may be settled if the
participating parties agree to a settle-
ment and the settlement is approved
by the administrative law judge if the
case is before the judge, or by the
Board if a timely petition for review
has been filed with the Board. A copy
of the settlement must be filed with
the administrative law judge or the
Board, as the case may be.

(e) Any settlement approved by the
Assistant Secretary, the administra-
tive law judge, or the Board will con-
stitute the final order of the Secretary
and may be enforced pursuant to
§24.113.

§24.112 Judicial review.

(a) Except as provided under para-
graphs (b), (¢), and (d) of this section,
within 60 days after the issuance by the
Board of a final order of the Secretary
under §24.110, any person adversely af-
fected or aggrieved by the order may
file a petition for review of the order in
the United States Court of Appeals for
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the circuit in which the violation al-
legedly occurred or the circuit in which
the complainant resided on the date of
the violation. A final order of the
Board is not subject to judicial review
in any criminal or other civil pro-
ceeding.

(b) Under the Federal Water Pollu-
tion Control Act, within 120 days after
the issuance by the Board of a final
order of the Secretary under §24.110,
any person adversely affected or ag-
grieved by the order may file a petition
for review of the order in the United
States Court of Appeals for the circuit
in which the violation allegedly oc-
curred or the circuit in which the com-
plainant resided on the date of the vio-
lation.

(¢c) Under the Solid Waste Disposal
Act, within 90 days after the issuance
by the Board of a final order of the Sec-
retary under §24.110, any person ad-
versely affected or aggrieved by the
order may file a petition for review of
the order in the United States Court of
Appeals for the circuit in which the
violation allegedly occurred or the cir-
cuit in which the complainant resided
on the date of the violation.

(d) Under the Comprehensive Envi-
ronmental Response, Compensation
and Liability Act, after the issuance by
the Board of a final order of the Sec-
retary under §24.110, any person ad-
versely affected or aggrieved by the
order may file a petition for review of
the order in the United States district
court in which the violation allegedly
occurred. For purposes of judicial econ-
omy and consistency, when a final
order of the Secretary issued by the
Board under the Comprehensive Envi-
ronmental Response, Compensation
and Liability Act also is issued under
any other statute listed in §24.100(a),
the adversely affected or aggrieved per-
son may file a petition for review of
the entire order in the United States
Court of Appeals for the circuit in
which the violation allegedly occurred
or the circuit in which the complainant
resided on the date of the violation.
The time for filing a petition for re-
view of an order issued under the Com-
prehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act and
any other statute listed in §24.100(a) is
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determined by the time period applica-
ble under the other statute(s).

(e) If a timely petition for review is
filed, the record of a case, including the
record of proceedings before the admin-
istrative law judge, will be transmitted
by the Board to the appropriate court
pursuant to the local rules of the
court.

§24.113 Judicial enforcement.

Whenever any person has failed to
comply with an order by an adminis-
trative law judge issued under the En-
ergy Reorganization Act, with the ex-
ception of any award of compensatory
damages, or with a final order of the
Secretary issued by the Board, includ-
ing final orders approving settlement
agreements as provided under
§24.111(d), the Secretary may file a
civil action seeking enforcement of the
order in the United States district
court for the district in which the vio-
lation was found to have occurred.
Whenever any person has failed to com-
ply with an order by an administrative
law judge issued under the Energy Re-
organization Act, with the exception of
any award of compensatory damages,
or with a final order of the Secretary
issued by the Board under either the
Energy Reorganization Act or the
Clean Air Act, the person on whose be-
half the order was issued also may file
a civil action seeking enforcement of
the order in the United States district
court for the district in which the vio-
lation was found to have occurred.

§24.114 District court jurisdiction of
retaliation complaints under the
Energy Reorganization Act.

(a) If the Board has not issued a final
decision within one year of the filing of
a complaint under the Energy Reorga-
nization Act, and there is no showing
that there has been delay due to the
bad faith of the complainant, the com-
plainant may bring an action at law or
equity for de novo review in the appro-
priate district court of the United
States, which will have jurisdiction
over such an action without regard to
the amount in controversy.

(b) Fifteen days in advance of filing a
complaint in federal court, a complain-
ant must file with the Assistant Sec-
retary, the administrative law judge,
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or the Board, depending upon where
the proceeding is pending, a notice of
his or her intention to file such com-
plaint. The notice must be served on
all parties to the proceeding. A copy of
the notice must be served on the Re-
gional Administrator, the Assistant
Secretary, Occupational Safety and
Health Administration, and on the As-
sociate Solicitor, Division of Fair
Labor Standards, U.S. Department of
Labor, 200 Constitution Ave., NW., N
2716, Washington, DC 20210.

§24.115

§24.115 Special circumstances; waiver
of rules.

In special circumstances not con-
templated by the provisions of this
part, or for good cause shown, the ad-
ministrative law judge or the Board on
review may, upon application, after
three days notice to all parties, waive
any rule or issue any orders that jus-
tice or the administration of any of the
statutes listed in §24.100(a) requires.
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APPENDIX A TO PART 24—YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE ENERGY REORGANIZATION ACT

Your Rights under the Energy Reorganization Act

The Energy Reorganization Act (ERA), makes it illegal to discharge or otherwise retaliate
against an employee in terms of compensation, conditions, or privileges of employment
because the employee or any person acting at an employee’s request engages in protected
activity.

Employers covered by the ERA are:
« The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)
« A contractor or subcontractor of the NRC
« Alicensee of the NRC or an agreement state, and the licensee’s contractors and subcontractors
« An applicant for a license, and the applicant’s contractors and subcontractors
o The Department of Energy (DOE)
« A contractor or subcontractor of the DOE under the Atomic Energy Act (AEA)

You are engaged in protected activity when you:
« Notify your employer of an alleged violation of the ERA or the AEA
» Refuse to engage in any practice made unlawful by the ERA or the AEA

« Testify before congress or at any federal or state proceeding regarding any provision or proposed
provision of the ERA or the AEA

« Commence or cause to be commenced a proceeding under the ERA, or a proceeding for the
administration or enforcement of any requirement imposed under the ERA

e Testify or are about to testify in any such proceeding

« Assist or participate in such a proceeding or in any other action to carry out the purposes of the
ERA or the AEA

Employers may not retaliate
+ Intimidating
o Threatening
« Restraining
« Coercing
« Blacklisting
o Firing
« or in any other manner retaliating against you

gainst you for ing in protected activity by:

Filing a complaint: You may file a complaint within 180 days of the retaliatory action. A complaint must be
in writing and may be in person or by mail at the nearest local office of the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration (OSHA), Department of Labor (DOL), or with the office of the Assistant Secretary, OSHA,
U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, D.C. 20210.

If DOL has not issued a final decision within one year of the filing of the complaint, you have the right to file
the complaint in district court for de novo review, so long as the delay is not due to your bad faith.

For additional information: Contact OSHA (listed in telephone directories), or see the agency’s web site at:
www.osha.gov.

Employers are required to display this poster where employees can readily see it.
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PART 25—RULES FOR THE NOMINA.-
TION OF ARBITRATORS UNDER
SECTION 11 OF EXECUTIVE
ORDER 10988

Sec.

25.1 Purpose and scope.

25.2 Definitions.

25.3 Requests for nomination of arbitrators:
Filing, disputes, parties, time.

25.4 Contents of requests; service on other
parties; answer; intervention.

25.5 Action to be taken by the Secretary;
nomination and selection.

25.6 Time; additional time after service by
mail.

25.7 Fees; cost; expenses; decisions.

25.8 Construction of rules.

AUTHORITY: Sec. 11, E.O. 10988, 3 CFR 1959—
1963 Comp. p. 521.

SOURCE: 25 FR 9441, Sept. 13, 1966, unless
otherwise noted.

§25.1 Purpose and scope.

These procedures govern the nomina-
tion of arbitrators by the Secretary to
perform the advisory functions speci-
fied under section 11 of Executive Order
10988. Any arbitrators so nominated
will be available for either or both of
the following purposes:

(a) To investigate the facts and issue
an advisory decision with respect to
the appropriateness of a unit of Federal
employees for the purpose of exclusive
recognition and as to related issues
submitted for consideration; or

(b) To determine and advise whether
an employee organization represents a
majority of employees in an appro-
priate unit by conducting or super-
vising an election (wherein a majority
of those voting, provided there is a rep-
resentative vote, cast their ballots for
or against representation), or by other
appropriate means. A request for a
nomination will be considered as con-
templating the performance of func-
tions within the above categories if it
specifies as a purpose obtaining an ad-
visory decision on one or more ques-
tions involved in a unit determination
or determination of majority status,
such as an advisory decision on the eli-
gibility of voters or the right to appear
on the ballot, arising in connection
with an election to be held, or on a
question relating to matters affecting
the results of an election which took
place after the agreement to conduct

§25.3

the election had been entered into, pro-
vided such conduct materially affected
the results of the election. Subject to
compliance with these procedures, the
Secretary will nominate an arbitrator
whenever he is so requested by an
agency or by an employee organization
which is seeking recognition as the ex-
clusive representative of Federal em-
ployees in a prima facie appropriate
unit and which meets all the pre-
requisites for seeking such recognition.

§25.2 Definitions.

When used in these procedures:

(a) Order means Executive Order No.
10988;

(b) Agency, employee organization, and
employee have the same meaning as in
the Order;

(c) Recognition means recognition
which is or may be accorded to an em-
ployee organization pursuant to the
provisions of the Order;

(d) Secretary means the Secretary of
Labor.

§25.3 Requests for nomination of arbi-
trators: Filing, disputes, parties,
time.

(a) Requests for nominations should
be filed only where there exists a dis-
pute or problem which cannot more ap-
propriately be resolved through regular
agency procedures. Parties, therefore,
are expected to eliminate from their
requests matters not necessary to the
resolution of such dispute or problem
and to use their best efforts to secure
agreement on as many issues as pos-
sible before making the request.

(b) Requests for nominations may be
filed either by an agency, or by an em-
ployee organization as described in
§25.1, or jointly by an agency and one
or more employee organizations. Joint
requests are encouraged.

(c) Subject to the provisions of para-
graph (a) of this section, the Secretary
will entertain on its merits a request
by an employee organization for nomi-
nation of an arbitrator on a question of
unit determination which is made
within 30 days after receipt of an agen-
cy’s final unit determination or 75 days
after an appropriate request for exclu-
sive recognition and no final unit de-
termination has been received from the
agency, provided the organization has
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